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Invest bank

Invest Bank P.S.C.

Board of Directors' Report

Dear Shareholders,

It is my pleasure to welcome you to our annual general meeting, and to present the Directors' Report,
and accompanying audited consolidated financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, the bank embarked on a transformational journey to streamline and strengthen its core
operations as it advances into a new era. This began with an exercise to enhance the bank’s corporate
governance structure, including an upgrade of the processes around credit underwriting and risk
monitoring, as well as a comprehensive evaluation of legacy loans.

Furthermore, the bank has taken initiatives to simplify its operations. increasing efficiencies and
reducing costs associated with activity across the bank's branch network and associated services. The
bank has pursued these initiatives to grow sharcholder value while ensuring a minimal disruption to
customers. As a result, we have closed seven quicter branches and successfully amalgamated their
banking services into nearby branches. The corporate focus of the bank means that we do not anticipate
revenues to be affected by this cost-optimisation exercise.

Having said that, the legacy of the past continues to impact the bank’s financial performance today.
The subdued cconomic environment, coupled with years of weak governance and credit underwriting
and monitoring practices, have weighed down the bank’s asset quality and led to a rise in non-
performing loans. As a result, the bank booked AED 634 million in impairment provisions during 2019,
resulting in a net loss of AED 579 million. This still represents a significant improvement on the
previous year when the bank booked AED 1.7 billion of provisions and recorded losses of nearly AED
1.5 billion.

Following the Government of Sharjah’s injection of AED 1.12 billion in exchange for a 50.07% stake,
the bank's equity has significantly improved, reaching AED 1.29 billion as of December 31, 2019,
Moreover, the capital adequacy ratio increased to 12.3% by the end of 2019 from 6.2% the previous

year.

Despite a challenging market environment, the bank enhanced its liquidity levels in 2019. The liquid
assets ratio improved to 15.5% from 14.8%, due to better liquidity management and an increasingly
stable deposit base, and the loan-to-deposit ratio was at 83.9% as of 31 December 2019, Customer
deposits stood at AED 9.9 billion as of 31 December 2019, down 14% from December 2018 after
adjusting for the impact of the Government’s AED 1.1 billion deposit that was converted to equity
during 2019. This trend is expected to reverse in 2020 as the Government's steadfast support restores
confidence in the bank. During Q4 2019, customer deposits were up 2% from the previous quarter as a
testament to this regained confidence in the bank’s future.

Invest Bank's total assets fell to AED 11.7 billion as of 31 December 2019, from AED 14.0 billion in
31 December 2018, mainly driven by the drop in deposits and a decrease in net loans. Net loans were
down by 17% to AED 8.3 billion, compared to AED 10.0 billion in 2018, mainly as a result of the
increase in provisions and suspension of interest on nen-performing loans.

Operating income for the year was AED 305 million, down 40% from AED 508 million reported in
2018. mainly due to lower net interest income resulting from the impact of non-performing loans
classified during fourth quarter of 2018. The bank managed to reduce its operating expenses by 13% to
AED 250 million in 2019, with the expectation that this trend will continue in 2020 as the impact of
the transformation strategy that was implemented in Q4 2019 drives further efficiencies.
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P.O. Box 1885, Sharjah - U.A.E,, Tel: (971-6) 5980555, Fax: (971-6) 5693807, E-mail: Sharjah@investbank.ae
Website: www.investbank.ae
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The road ahead continues to look challenging and the first quarter of 2020 has been defined by the
dramatic effects that the COVID-19 outbreak has had on the global economy. Lower oil prices represent
a further headwind to economies in the region. However, we are confident that with the continued
support from the government, at both a local and federal level, we have the strength and resilience to
weather the potential storms ahead.

Personally and on behalf of the entire Board, I would like to express our sincere gratitude and
appreciation to His Highness Sheikh Dr. Sultan bin Mohammed Al Qasimi, Member of the Supreme
Council and Ruler of Sharjah, for his guidance and support, without which Invest Bank would not have
been able to withstand the challenging circumstances it has faced.

On your behalf, I would also like to thank the bank's management and staff for their hard work,
dedication and commitment, and we all look forward to their continued contribution in this new and
exciting chapter for [nvest Bank.

Chairman

H.E. Sheikh Sultan Bin Ahmed Bin Sultan Al Qasimi
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P.O. Box 1885, Sharjah - U.A.E., Tel: (971-6) 5980555, Fax: (971-6) 5693807, E-mail: Sharjah@investbank.ae
Website: www.investbank.ae



A

pwe

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consalidated financial position of Invest bank P.S.C. {the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together the "Group")
as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
The Group's consolidated financial statements comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

e lhe consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities far the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA

Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Sharjah Branch), License no. 515115
Al Batha Tower, Level 11, Office No. 1102, P O Box 82162, Sharjah -United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)6 597 8600, F: +971 (0)6 573 0896, unvw.pwe.com/ne

Douglas O'Mahony, Rami Sarhan, Jaeques Faldhoury and Mohanted ElBorno are registered as practising auditors with the UAE Ministry of Eronomy (3)
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approach
Overview
Key Audit Matter eMeasurement of expected credit losses under IFRS 9

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where
management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all
of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters consideration of whether thenre was evidence of bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

| Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Measurement of expected credit losses under  We performed the following audit procedures on the
computation of the ECL included in the Group's

FRS]
gl A . consolidated financial statements for the year
The Group applies ECL on all its financial ended 31 December 2019
instruments measured at amaortised cost, debt
instruments measured at fair value through > \We tested the completeness and accuracy of
other comprehensive income and financial the data used In the calculation of ECL.
guarantee contracts including financing
commitments and financial guarantee > For a sample of exposures, we checked the
contracts. approprialeness of the Group's application of

The Group exercises significant judgements the staging criteria.

and makes a number of assumptions in

developing its ECL models, which includes = \We involved our internal specialists to assess

the following areas:

probability of default computation separately e Conceptual framework used for developing
for retail and corporate portfolios, determining the Group's impairment policy in the

loss given default and exposure at default for context of its compliance with the

both funded and unfunded exposures, forward requirements of IFRS 8.

looking adjustments and staging criteria.

e ECL modelling methodology and
calculations used to compute the
probability of default (PD), loss given
default (LGD), and exposure at default
(EAD) for the Group's classes of financial
instruments.

(4



i

pwce

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank

P.S.C. (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Key audit matter

Measurement of expected credit losses under
IFRS 9 {continued)

For defaulted exposures, the Group exercises
judgements to estimate the expected future
cash flows related to individual exposures,
including the value of collateral,

The Group's impairment policy under IFRS 9 is
presented in Note 4.3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Measurement of ECL is considered as a key
audit matter as the Group applies significant
judgements and makes a number of
assumptions in the staging criteria applied to
the financial instruments as well as in
developing ECL models for calculating its
impairment provisions.

e Reasonableness of the assumptions made
in developing the modelling framework
including assumptions used for estimating
forward looking scenarios and significant
increase in credit risk.

e For a sample of exposures, we checked the
appropriateness of determining EAD,
including the consideration of repayments
and collateral,

In addition, for the Stage 3 corporate credit
portiolio, we independently assessed the
appropriateness of provisioning assumptions for
a number of exposures selected on the basis of
risk and the significance of individual exposures.
An independent view was formed on the levels
of provisions recognised, based on the detailed
loan and counterparty information available in
the credit files.

We also assessed the consolidated financial
statement disclosures to ensure compliance with
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9.

(5
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)

Other information )

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board of
Directors’ Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing se, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated,

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation in
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, malters relaled to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intend to liguidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so,

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

(6)
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[Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may invalve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, bul nol for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audil evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group fo express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reascnably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matlers in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated In our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

(N
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

Vi)

vii)

we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Board of Directors’ Report is consistent with the
books of account of the Group;

as disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements the Group has not purchased
shares during the year ended 31 December 2019;

note 23 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions,
and the terms under which they were conducted:

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the year ended
31 December 2019 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015
or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities
or its financial position as at 31 December 2019; and

viii) note 28 to the financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year

ended 31 December 2019,

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2019, we report that we
have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our

audit,

PricewaterhouseCoopers
31 March 2020

Douglas O' Mz
Registered Au

Number 834

# Hiw

Place: Dubai, United Arab Emirates

(8)



Invest bank P.S.C.
Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December

2019 2018
Note AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 6 1,503,806 1,968,369
Due from banks 7 751,898 733,460
Investment securities 8 261,703 155,947
Loans and advances to customers 9 8,313,264 10,075,374
Other assets 10 873,846 1,092,918
Total assets 11,704,517 14,026,068
Liabilities
Due to banks 12 164 199
Deposits from customers 13 9,906,117 12,635,484
Other liabilitics 14 512,249 643,200
Total liabilities 10,418,530 13,278,883
Equity
Share capital L5 3,180,982 1,588,125
Share discount 15 (477,857) -
Legal reserve 15 450,688 450,688
Special reserve 15 450,688 450,688
Fair value reserve (103,730) (117,015)
Accumulated losses (2,214,784) (1,625,301)
Total equity 1,285,987 747,185
Total liabilities and equity 11,704,517 14,026,068

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 30" March 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

.

Chief Executive Officer Chairmaf™

The notes on pages 15 to 80 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 9



Invest bank P.S.C.

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

For the year ended 31 December

2019 2018

Note AED’000 AED’000
Operating income
Interest income 16 492,528 740,015
Interest expense 16 (292,056) (345,738)
Net Interest income 200,472 394,277
Net fees and commission income 17 122,952 190,754
Net income from foreign currencies 11,472 14,631
Revaluation loss and other income 18 (30,059) (91,132)
Total operating income 304,837 508,530
Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses 19 (250,114) (285,793)
Total operating expenses (250,114) (285,793)
Operating profit before impairment loss 54,723 222,737
Net impairment loss 20 {634,085) (1,694,882)
Loss for the year {579,362) (1,472,145)
Loss per share (UAE Dirhams) 21 (0.182) {0.927)

The notes on pages 15 to 80 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. (10)



Invest bank P.S.C.

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

For the vear ended 31 December

2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000
Loss for the year (579,362) (1,472,145)
Other comprehensive loss:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 3,164 (20,378)
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 3,164 (20,378)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (576,198) (1,492,523)
The notes on pages 15 to 80 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. (11)
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December

2019 2018
Note AED’000 AED’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year {(579,362) (1,472,145
Adjustments:
Depreciation 24,098 25,409
Net (gain)/ loss on investment securities (1,139) 474
Fair value loss on repossessed properties 68,466 109,985
Net impairment loss 634,085 1,694,882
Operating cash flows before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 146,148 358,605
Change in reserves held with Central Bank 82,623 50,658
Change in loans and advances to customers 1,128,085 395,678
Change in other assets 132,400 61,170
Change in deposits from customers (refer note
below) (1,614,367) (958,644)
Change in other liabilities (130,950) (169,162)
Net cash used in operating activities (256,061) (261,695)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (5,151) (10,935)
Purchase of investment securities (110,565) (28,594)
Proceeds from sale/ redemption of investment
securities 9,108 396,718
Proceeds from sale of investment properties (741) -
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing
activities (107,349) 357,189
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash
equivalents (363,410) 95,494
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 22 2,265,719 2,170,225
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,962,309 2,265,719

Note: Non-cash transaction

Change in deposits from customers is impacted by a non-cash transaction whereby AED 1,115
million of a deposit made by Government of Sharjah in December 2018, was converted into
Share capital in April 2019,

The notes on pages 15 to 80 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. (14)



Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019

1 Legal status and activities

Invest bank P.S.C. ("'Invest bank" or “the Bank™) is a public shareholding company with limited
liability which was incorporated in 1975 by an Emiri Decree issued by His Highness Dr. Sheikh
Sultan Bin Mohammed Al Qassimi, Ruler of Sharjah. The registered address of the Bank is at
Al Zahra Street, P.O.Box 1885, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates ("UAE").

Invest bank is licensed by the Central Bank of the UAE (the "CB UAE") to carry out banking
activities and is principally engaged in the business of corporate and retail banking through its
network of branches located in the Emirate of Sharjah, Dubai, Abu Dhabi and Fujairah. Invest
bank also carries out banking activities through it's branch ("the branch") in Beirut, Lebanon
licensed by Banque Du Liban (the "CB Lebanon"). The Bank's shares are listed on the Abu
Dhabi Securities Exchange ("ADX").

The Bank has a fully owned subsidiaty, ALFA Financial Services FZE with limited liability
status in the Sharjah Airport International Free Zone to provide support services to the Bank.

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise
the Bank and its subsidiary (together referred to as "the Group").

2 Recapitalization, improving profitability and strengthened liquidity
(a) Capital adequacy

In 2018, the bank experienced significant deterioration in the quality of its loans and advances
portfolio. As a result, its equity has reduced to AED 0.7 billion as of 31 December 2018. In
addition, the Capital Adequacy Ratio decreased to 6.23% as at 31 December 2018 and is
12.31% as at 31 December 2019 following the Government of Sharjah’s Strategic Investment,
discussed in the paragraph immediately below.

As a consequence the bank put in place a recapitalization plan. This involved the bank entering
into an agreement on 13 December 2018 with the Government of Sharjah whereby the
Government acquired a 50.07% controlling interest in the Bank through a “Strategic
Investment”, which was approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting held on 10 April
2019 subsequent to the receipt of the regulatory approvals. As such, 1,592,857,143 shares of
AED 1 each were issued to the Government at a discounted price of AED 0.7 per share for a
total consideration of AED 1.1 billion.

Within the same agreement, the Government had undertaken to fully underwrite a rights issue
up to AED 0.8 billion, also to be issued at a similar discounted price of AED 0.7 per share.

At the meeting held on 16 December 2019, the bank’s Board of Directors approved
amendments to the agreement, thereby postponing the rights issue to 2020, The Government
remains committed to the recapitalization plan. Such amendment is subject to shareholders and
regulatory approvals.

(15)



Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

2 Recapitalization, improving profitability and strengthened liquidity
(continued)

{b) Profitability

During 2019, the bank has also taken initiatives to streamline operations, increase efficiency
and reduce costs associated with the activity of the bank's branch network and broader
operations. The bank performed a profitability assessment of its branches, following which the
activity of 7 branches were amalgamated into the wider branch network of the bank. The bank’s
revenue is not expected to be significantly affected and the bank has pursued these initiatives
to enhance profitability and protect regulatory capital.

(¢ Liquidity

The bank has also been focused on protecting its liquidity position. During 2019, the bank has
significantly improved its liquidity position by progressively managing deposits and liquid
asset positions. The majority of the bank’s deposits are locked in to rolling-over terms enabling
the bank to exercise adequate foresight to proactively manage maturities. The bank’s liquid
asset ratio as at 31 December 2019 is 15.5% compared to 11.1% at 31 December 2018
(removing the effect of the Government’s deposit in 2018). -

The Central Bank of the UAE has made a public press announcement on 16 December 2018
and has subsequently reaffirmed to the bank that it will provide support by making available
liquidity facilities, which remain at bank’s disposal if and when needed.

Considering the combined effect of the aforementioned circumstances, the bank’s management

and Board is confident in the bank’s ability to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. As such, the financial statements of the Group are prepared on a going concern basis.

3 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compiance

This consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the
applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015. The Bank in accordance with Article
302 of Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, should convene a General Assembly for the continuation of
the Bank, within thirty days of the issue of these financial statements.

(b) Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except
for the measurement of certain investment properties at fair value.

fc) Functional and presentation currency
This consolidated financial information has been presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams

(AED) rounded to the nearest thousand, which is the Group's functional and presentation
currency.
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

3 Basis of preparation (continued)

{d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any
future period affected.

Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial information are described as foliows:

Q) Classification of financial assets

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group classifies its financial assets based on the assessments
of the business models in which the assets are held at a portfolio level and whether cash flows
generated by assets constitute solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”"). This requires
significant judgement in evaluating how the Group manages its business model and on whether
or not a contractual clause in all debt instruments of a certain type breaches SPPI and results in
a material portfolio being recorded at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

(ii) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance for financial assets measured
at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) is an area
that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting
losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements
for measuring ECL, such as:

- Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk (“SICR™);

- Determining the criteria and definition of default;

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

- Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each
type of product/market and the associated ECL; and

- Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

3 Basis of preparation (continued)
(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
(iii)  Fair value of derivatives and unquoted securities

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by
using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (such as models) are used to determine
fair values, these are tested before they are used and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs
reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only
obsetvable data, however area such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and
correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect reported fair values of financial instruments.

(iv}  Repossessed properties

The fair value of repossessed properties were determined by external, independent property
valuers, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair
value of the Group’s repossessed properties portfolio annually.

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies

4.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2019

The following new and revised IFRS, which became effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of
these revised IFRS’s, except where stated, have not had any material impact on the amounts
reported for the current and prior years.

. IFRS 16 Leases: the objective is to report information that represents lease transactions
and provides a basis for users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing and
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. To meet that objective, a lessee should
recognize assets and liabilities arising from a lease.

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the undetlying asset is
of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments.

The application of ITFRS 16 on the Group is immaterial.

(18)



Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)

4.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2019 (continued)

. Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Relating to prepayment features with
negative compensation. This amends the existing requirements in IFRS 9 regarding
termination rights in order to allow measurement at amortised cost {or, depending on
the business model, at fair value through other comprehensive income) even in the
case of negative compensation payments.

The application of the amendments to IFRS ¢ on the Group is immaterial.

4.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s
accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

New and revised IFRSs Effective for
annual periods
beginaing on or after

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business combination - This amendment I January 2020
revises the definition of a business. According to feedback received

by the IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly

thought to be too complex, and it results in too many transactions

qualifying as business combinations.

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ and 1 January 2020
IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and

errors’ - These amendments to JAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential

amendments to other IFRSs: i) use a consistent definition of

materiality throughout IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting; ii} clarify the explanation of the definition of

material; and iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about

immaterial information.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these standards, interpretations and amendments
on the future financial statements and intends to adopt these, if applicable, when they become
effective.

There are no other relevant applicable new standards and amendments to published standards
or IFRIC interpretations that have been issued but are not effective for the first time for the
Bank’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2019 that would be expected to have a material
impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies

4.3.1 Financial assets and liabilities

(a) Measurement methods

i) Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition; minus the principal repayments; plus or minus the cumulative
amortization using the effective interest rate method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance or to the
amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit fosses
and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees paid or received that are integral
to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the
respective financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted
using original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in the statement of income.

{ii) Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of financial assets, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
for which interest income is calculated by effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net
of the expected credit loss provision).

(iii)  Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, transactions costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fee and commissions. Transactions
costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition,
an ECL is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and at FVOCI, which
results in accounting loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
an asset is newly originated.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)

4.3.1 TFinancial assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Measurement methods (continued)

(iii)  Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial
recognition, the entity recognises the difference as follows:

- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical
asset or liability (i.c. a level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

- In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the time of recognition of deferred day
one profit or loss is determined individuaily. It is either amortised over life of the
instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market
observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

(b) Financial assets
Debt instruments:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the
issuer’s perspective, such as loans and advances and investments in debt securities.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

- the Group’s business model for managing the assets; and
- the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and that
are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of
these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and
measured. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’
using the effective interest rate method.

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not
designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCD.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
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4
4.3

4.3.1

()

)

Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
Accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Movements in carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains and losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses
on the instruments’ amortised cost which are recognised in the statement of income.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to the statement of income and recognised
in ‘Other income’. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest
income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or foss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the
statement of income within ‘Other income’ in the period in which it arise. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the effeciive
interest rate method.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order
to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows
and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g.
financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified
as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by the
Group in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience
on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is
evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and
managed and how managers are compensated,

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or
to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether financial
instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI
test’). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether contractual cash flows
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and an interest rate
that is consistent with basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
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4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)

4.3 Accounting policies (continued)

4.3.1 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial assets (continued)

0] Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The Group reclassifies investment in debt instruments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and

none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments:

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include
basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the Group’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably
designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group’s
policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for
purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains
and losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to the statement of
income, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on
such investments, continue to be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

(ii) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt instrument
assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantec contracts. The Group recognises a loss allowance for
such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possibie outcomes;

- The time value of money; and

- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
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4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)

4.3.1 TFinancial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans

to customers. When this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are

substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this by considering, among others,

the following factors:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the
contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

- Whether any substantial new terms introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based
return that substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

- Significant change in the interest rate.

- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect
the credit risk associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and
recognises a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset.
The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for
impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the
new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially
in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the
originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in the
statement of income as a gain or loss on derecognition,

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in
the derecogntion, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised
cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in the statement of
income.

The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the
original effective interest rate.

(iv)  Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i)
the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownerships, or (ji) the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group
has not retained control.
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4
4.3
43.1
()
(iv)

Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
Accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities {continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition other than on a modification

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as ‘pass
through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

()
(i)

Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the
assets;

Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (eg. Short positions in the trading
booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains
or losses on financial liabilities designated at FVTPL presented partially in other
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as
the amount that is not atiributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to
market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair
value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an
accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the
credit risk of the liability are also presented in the statement of income;

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify
for derecognition whereby for financial liability is recognised for the consideration
received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense
incurred on the financial liability; and

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.
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4 Sammary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 A.ccounting policies (continued)

4.3.1 Financial assets and labilities (continued)

(c) Financial Habilities (continued)

(i) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially
different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities,
are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of
a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In
addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and
change in the covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments
or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognized as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of
the liability and are amortized over the remaining term of the modified liability.

(d) Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are
given to banks, financial institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure loans,
overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
the higher of:

- The amount of the loss allowance; and

- The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with
the principles of IFRS 15.

() Loan commitments

Loan commitments provided by the Group are measured as the amount of the loss allowance.

The Group has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate,
or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.
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4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies {continued)

4.3.1 Financial assets and labilities {(continued)

(e) Loan commitments (continued)

For loan commitments, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for contracts
that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group cannot separately identify
the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan
component, the expected credit losses on the underdrawn commitment are recognised together
with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses
exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a
provision.

@ Basis of consolidation
Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee if it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of
a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date when control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(g Fees and commission income and expense

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a
financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the
related service obligations are performed by the Group. When a loan commitment is not
expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, commitment fees are recognised on a straight
line basis over the commitment period. Other fees and commission expenses are expensed as
the related services are received.

R Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the Group's
right to receive such income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity
securities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)

4.3 Accounting policies {continued)
{i) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for
gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading
activity.

@) Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset
or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on
an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally
the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the
fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then
the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that
difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an appropriate basis
over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by
observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group

measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask
price.
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4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)

() Fair value measurement principles (continued)

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit
risk that are managed by the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit
risk are measured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or
paid to transfer a net short position) for a particuiar risk exposure. Those portfolio-level
adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk
adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hicrarchy as of the end of the
teporting period during which the change has occurred.

(k) Derivative financial instruments - Other non trading derivatives

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments primarily to meet its customer
requirements. Derivatives held for internal risk management purposes include all derivative
assets and liabilities that are not classified as trading assets or liabilities. Derivatives held for
risk management purposes are measured at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(1) Foreign currency
i) Fareign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to UAE Dirhams at the foreign exchange rates
at the date of the transaction,

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated to UAE Dirhams at the spot foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in UAE
Dirhams at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the
year, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the
end of the year,

Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated to UAE Dirhams at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is
determined. Non monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies {(continued)

(@) Foreign currency (continued)

(i) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at spot
exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated to UAE Dirhams at spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI, and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve (translation reserve), except to the extent that the translation difference is
allocated to non-controlling interest ("NCI").

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in the
translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reatiributed to NCL

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither
planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, then foreign currency differences arising on the
item form part of the net investment in the foreign operation and are recognised in OCI, and
accumulated in the translation reserve within equity.

(m)  Property and equipment

@) Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset.

(i) Subsequent cost

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits
of the expenditure will flow to the Group. On going repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred.

(iii)  Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their

estimated residual values using the straight line method over their useful lives, and is generally
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the conmsolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)

(m)  Property and equipment (continued)

(iii) Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of significant items of property and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings 20 to 30
Office installations and improvements 10
Office furniture and equipment 2to 35
Motor vehicles 3

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate. No depreciation is charged on freehold land and capital-work-in-
progress. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the
carrying amount. These are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

) Repossessed properties

The Group holds repossessed properties acquired through the enforcement of security over
loans and advances. Repossessed property is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The Group determines fair value on the basis of valuations provided by an
independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of the repossessed property being valued. The
Bank earns rental income from leasing the properties until the properties have been disposed.

(o) Staff terminal benefits

The Group provides for staff terminal benefits based on an estimation of the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service until their retirement. This
calculation is performed based on a projected unit credit method.

The Group contributes to the pension scheme for UAE nationals under the UAE pension and
social security law. This is a defined contribution pension plan and the Group’s contributions
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period to which they relate. In
respect of this scheme, the Group has a legal and constructive obligation to pay the fixed
contributions as they fall due and no obligations exist to pay the future benefits.

(1)




Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)
(o) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows to reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(7 Financial guarantees and loan commitments

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are firm
commitments 1o provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions,

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees or commitments to provide a loan at a below-
market interest rate are initially measured at fair value and the initial fair value is amortised
over the life of the guarantee or the commitment. The liability is subsequently carried at the
higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment to settle the
liability when a payment under the contract has become probable. Financial guarantees and
commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are included within other
liabilities.

(r) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

{s) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash in hand, balances with central banks, amounts due from other banks and deposits
from other banks that are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
(# Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments,

that are not quoted in an active market and the Group does not intend to sell immediately in the
near future.
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting pelicies {(continued)
(?) Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction
costs. Subsequent to the initial recognition loans and advances are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, except when the Group recognises the loans and advances
at fair value through profit or loss.

fu) Investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus in case of investment securities
not at fair value through profit or loss, incremental direct transaction cost. Subsequent to initial
recognition investment securities are accounted for depending upon their classification as either
amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Investment securities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, ift

- they are held within a business model with an objective to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flow and the contractual terms of financial assets give rise, on specific
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest; and

- they have not been designated previously as measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

The Group elects to present changes in fair value of certain investments in equity and debt
instruments held for strategic purpose in other comprehensive income. The election is
irrevocable and is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis at initial recognition.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are not reclassified to consolidated statement of
profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

v Dividend on ordinary shares

Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they
are approved by the Bank’s shareholders.

(w) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax
effects.
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the comsolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

4 Summary of signifiant accountig policies (continued)
4.3 Accounting policies (continued)
(x) Impairment of non-financial assets

The catrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment property are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable
amount of a non-financial asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to
sell. The reduction in value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that assets carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if
no impairment loss had been recognized.

o) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from
which it may eam revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are reviewed regularly
by the management of the Group to make decisions about resources allocated to the segment
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

(B4
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

6 Cash and deposits with central banks

2019 2018

AED’000 AED’000

Cash in hand 39,602 74,660
Deposits with central banks 1,110,752 1,457,634
Reserve requirements with the CB UAE (refer note 6.1) 311,409 387,720
Reserve requirements with the CB Lebanon (refer note 6.1) 42,043 48,355
1,503,806 1,968,369

6.1 Statutory reserve deposits are required to be maintained as per regulations of the CB
UAE and the CB Lebanon.Reserve with CB Lebanon includes LBP 673 million and
USD 11 millien with CB Lebanon and cash in hand. Given the current prevailing
situation in Lebanon restrictions have been imposed on repatriation of foreign
currencies out of the country. Therefore, any foreign currency balance in Lebanon shall
not be available to the Group till the time the said restrictions continue,

7 Due from banks

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
Money market placements 599,816 605,967
Balances with other banks 152,303 127,657
Less: Allowance for impairment (ECL) (221) (164)
751,898 733,460

The geographical concentration is as follows:
- Within the UA.E 532,222 615,578
- Outside the UAE 219,897 118,046
752,119 733,624
Less: Allowance for impairment (ECL) (221 (164)
751,898 733,460
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

8 Investment securities

The details of investments are as follows:

Other

GCC
Domestic  Countries Others Total
AED'000 AEDY000 AED'0G0 AED'000

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL):

Investments in quoted equity securities 2,401 - - 2,401
Investments in un-quoted funds - - 6,801 6,801
Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCT)
Investments in quoted eqguity securities 133,423 1,142 - 134,565
Investments in un-quoted equity securities 467 - - 467
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Investments in debt securities 117,490 - - 117,490
253,781 1,142 6,801 261,724
Less: Allowance for impairment (ECL) (21) - - {21)
253,760 1,142 6,801 261,703
At 31 December 2018
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FYTPL):
Investments in quoted equity securities 1,632 - - 1,632
Investments in un-quoted funds - - 6,431 6,431
Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCI)
Investments in quoted equity securities 131,780 1,008 - 132,788
Investments in un-quoted equity securities 467 - - 467
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Investments in debt securities 14,646 - - 14,646
148,525 1,008 6,431 155,964
Less: Allowance for impairment (ECL) (17 - - {(17)
148,508 1,008 6,431 155,947

8.1 The Group has not purchased any equity investments during the vear ended
31 December 2019. (31 December 2018; AED 29 million).
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

9 Loans and advances to customers

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Overdrafts 5,943,106 6,364,810
Bills discounted 312,940 526,350
Trust receipts 451,401 624,349
Term loans 6,342,517 6,302,624
13,049,964 13,818,133
Allowances for impairment (refer note 9.1 and 9.2) (4,736,700) (3,742,759)
Net loans and advances to customers 8,313,264 10,075,374

9.1 The movement during the year in the impairment provision is as follows:

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

At 1 January 3,742,759 1,510,217
Initial application of IFRS 9 - 299,700
At | January 3,742,759 1,809,917
Charge for the year (refer note 20) 667,967 1,716,424
Recoveries during the year (refer note 20) (33,582) (19,072)

Interest not recognised in the consolidated profit or loss

statement 364,766 237,676
Amounts written off during the year (5,210) (2,186)
Allowances for impairment (refer note 9.2) 4,736,700 3,742,759

9.2 Impairment provision includes interest not recognized (Interest in suspense) at 31
December 2019 amounting to AED 662 million (31 December 2018: AED 297 million)
in respect of non-performing accounts.

10 Other assets

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Interest receivable 31,886 31,251
Repossessed properties (refer note 10.1) 517,984 587,191
Property plant and equipment (refer note 11) 80,992 99,939
Prepayments and other assets 52,735 23,592
Customers' indebtedness for acceptances 190,249 350,945
873,846 1,092,918

10.}  Repossessed properties were acquired in settlement of loans and advances. Refer note
26 for further information on the Group's fair value hierarchy, the approach to
determining the valuation of properties, including the valuation techniques and
significant inputs.
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

11  Property and equipment

Office Office
installation furniture
Land and and impro- and Motor
buliding -vements equipment vehicles Total

AED'000 AED'000 AED'000  AED'000 AED'000

At 31 December 2019 103,349 47,601 99,497 460 250,907
Accumulated

depreciation at

31 December 2019 42,448 35,822 91,185 460 169,915
Net book value at

31 December 2019 60,901 11,779 8.312 - 80,992
Net book value at

31 December 2018 72,764 14,709 12,466 - 99,939

11.1  Depreciation charges have been captured in other general and administrative expenses
(note 19).

12 Due to banks

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Demand deposits and total due to banks 164 199
13 Deposits from customers

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Time deposits 7,829,670 9,056,266

Savings accounts 127,358 131,394

Current and other accounts 1,949,089 3,447,824

9,906,117 12,635,484

Customer deposits by geographical area are as follows:

Within the UAE 9,806,567 12,504,147

Others 99,550 131,337
9,906,117 12,635,484

13.1  Customer deposits include AED 1,115 million as at 31 December 2018 received from
the Government of Sharjah towards increase in share capital,
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

14 Other liabilities

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'0G00
Interest payable 96,268 122,569
Unearned commission income 27,945 40,473
Staff benefits payable 19,367 17,983
Accrued expenses 24,978 61,790
Manager's cheques 4,823 6,979
Liabilities under acceptances 190,249 350,945
Others 148,619 42 461
512,249 643,200

15  Share capital and reserves

15.1  Share capital

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000

Authorised share capital
6,300,000 thousand shares of AED 1 each
(2018: 1,588,125 thousand shares of AED 1 each) 6,300,000 1,588,125
Issned and paid-up capital
3,180,982 thousand shares of AED 1 each
(2018: 1,588,125 thousand shares of AED 1 each) 3,180,982 1,588,125

Share discount

At the General Meeting held on 10 April 2019 it was approved to issue of 1,592,857,143 shares
of AED 1 each, to the Government of Sharjah at a discounted price of AED 0.7 per share. The
resulting share discount of AED 478 million is shown as a debit balance within equity as a
share discount.

Dividend
At the Annual General Meeting of the Bank held on 10 April 2019, no dividend was approved
by the sharcholders (2018: Nil).

Reserves

Legal reserve

In accordance with the Article 239 of the U.A.E. Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 10% of the
annual profit is transferred to the Legal reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue such
annual transfers when the reserve equals 50% of the nominal value of the paid up share capital.
Transfers to the Legal reserve are made only at year end. The Legal reserve is not available for
distribution. The legal reserve was AED 450.6 million at year end (2018: AED 450.6 million).

Special reserve

In accordance with the Article 82 of Union Law No. 10 of 1980, 10% of the annual profit is
transferred to the Special reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers
when the reserve equals 50% of the Bank’s capital. The special reserve was AED 450.6 miltion
at year end (2018: AED 450.6 million).

(1)




Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the

31 December 2019 (continued)

16 Net interest income

Interest income:

Deposits with banks

Debt securities

Loans and advances to customers

Interest expense:

Due to banks

Time deposits

Call deposits

Savings accounts and others

Net interest income

17 Net fees and commission income

Fees and commission income:
Letters of credit fee

Letters of guarantee fee

Retail and corporate lending fees
Commission on transfers

Others

Fees and commission expenses:
Service charges and other expense
Net fee and commission income

18 Revaluation loss and other income

Dividend on investment securities

Rental income

Realised gain/ (loss) on investment securities at FVTPL

Fair value adjustment for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Fair value loss on repossessed properties

QOther operating income

year ended
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
30,344 37,113
1,152 10,206
461,032 652,696
492,528 740,015
(80) (1,193)
(282,239) (339,064)
(6,588) (2,863)
(3,149) (2,618)
(292,056) (345,738)
200,472 394,277
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'"000
13,979 35,430
75,658 96,545
15,167 32,642
2,574 2,932
15,939 23,583
123,317 191,132
(365) (378)
122,952 190,754
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
4,890 8,165
20,392 10,338
370 (1,052)
769 577
(68,466) (109,985)
11,986 825
(30,059) (91,132)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

19  General and administrative expenses

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Personnel and related costs (156,310) {149,027)
Premises and related expenses (21,087) (21,322)
Professional expenses (2,045) (50,164)
Depreciation and other expenses (70,672) {65,280)
{250,114) (285,793)

20  Net impairment loss

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Gross impairment charge for the year (refer note 9.1) 668,027 1,716,424
Recoveries (refer note 20.1) (33,942) (21,542)

634,085 1,694,882
20.1  Includes AED 0.4 million (2018: AED 2.5 million) recovered from balances previously

written off.

21  Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank
and weighted average number of ordinary shares.

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
Loss attributable to ordinary share holders (579,362) (1,472,145)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding at 31
December 3,180,982 1,588,125
Earnings per share (UAE Dirhams) {0.182) (0.927)

Atreporting date the Group does not have any instrument resulting in dilution of basic earnings
per share.

22 Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
Cash and deposits with central banks excluding reserve
requirements with CB UAE and CB Lebanon
(refer note 6) 1,150,354 1,532,294
Due from banks maturing within three months including
allowance for impairment (refer note 7) 752,119 733,624
Due to banks maturing within three months (refer note 12) {164) (199)
1,902,309 2,265,719
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

23  Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with related parties
including Board of directors, their related companies and key management personnel having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
directly or indirectly, including any director, executive or otherwise, of the Group. The related
party transactions are executed at the terms agreed between the parties. The volume of related
party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and related income and expenses for
the year are as follows:

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
Other Other
exposures exposures
associated associated
Board of with Board Board of  with Board
directors of directors directors of directors
Loans
Loans 95,420 836,872 56,075 731,556
Interest income 5,591 32,866 2,054 34,752
Outstanding letters of credit and
guarantees - 761 5,375 187,029
Beposits
Deposits 6,331 2,012,846 267,538 1,949,091
Interest expense 172 81,098 8,244 66,220

* Other exposures includes Government of Sharjah exposure of AED 250 million (2018: Nil)
under loans and AED 218 million (2018: Nil) under deposits.

None of the loans granted to related parties are classified as impaired or past due as at
31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Nil).

The loans extended to directors during the year are repayable over 1 year and bear interest at
rates ranging from 4% to 10% per annum (2018: 4% to 10%). At 31 December 2019,
outstanding loans and advances due from related parties are secured by deposits under lien
amounting to AED 558.4 million (2018: AED 774.8 million).

Key management compensation

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Board of Directors* - 1,500
Key management 9,460 11,098
Termination benefits 571 822
10,031 13,420

* No remuneration paid to the Board of Directors in 2019. The compensation of AED 1.5
million for 2018 was only an accrual, which was not paid and subsequently, reversed in 2019.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

24  Commitments and contingent labilities

At any time, the Group has outstanding commitments to extend credit. These commitments
take the form of approved loan facilities. Outstanding loan commitment have committed
periods that do not extend beyond the normal underwriting and settlement period.

The Group provides financial guarantees and letter of credit to guarantee the performance of
customers to third parties. These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend up to a
period of one year.

The contractual amount of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in the following
table by category.

2019 2018

AED'000 AED'000

Letters of credit 171,876 316,958
Letters of guarantee 4,445,297 6,160,794
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 135,344 200,308
Foreign exchange and forward commitments 350,000 758,350
5,102,517 7,436,410

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are
considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally
expect third parties to draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual
amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily represent future cash
requirements, as many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.

Exposure by geography as on 31 December

Irrevocable Foreign exchange
commitments to and forward
extend credit commitments Contingent liabilities
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000 AED00¢ AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
United Arab
Emirates 135344 200,308 350,000 758,350 4,571,655 6,419,950
Other Arab
Countries 45,518 57,802

135,344 200,308 350,000 758,350 4,617,173 6,477,752
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Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

24 Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

Exposure by currency as on 31 December

Irrevocable Foreign exchange Other commitments
commitments to and forward and contingent
extend credit commitments liabilities
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000 AED*00 AED000 AED’000 AED’000
Foreign currency - 1,042 350,000 758,350 244,843 383,967
AED 135,344 199,266 (350,000) (758,350) 4,372,330 6,093,785
Total 135,344 200,308 - - 4,617,173 6,477,752

Exposure by industry segment as on 31 December

Irrevocable Foreign Other
commitments exchange and commitments and
to extend forward contingent
credit commitments Habilities
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED000 AED000 AED000 AED’00C AED000 AED’000
Agriculture, and
allied activitics - - - - 2,683 3,768
Mining and quarrying - - - - 6,315 4,338
Manufacturing - 419 - - 416,157 617,210
Construction and real
estate 80,926 135,698 - - 3,051,268 4,116,521
Trade 1,215 10,890 350,000 758,350 442,737 740,880

Transport, storage and

communication - - - - 88,690 107,033
Financial institutions - - - - 152,941 193,985
Other services 10,703 29,906 - - 306,553 464,870
Government - - - - -

Loans to individuals - 5,499 - - 126 520
Loans to high net

worth individuals 42,500 11,500 - - 10,624 11,518
Others - 6,396 - - 139,079 217,109
Total 135,344 200,308 350,000 758,350 4,617,173 6,477,752

Exposure by maturity as on 31 December

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’G00 AED’000 AED’000

Less than 3 months 52,805 89,695 350,000 758,350 1,204,451 1,769,171
More than 3

months 82,539 110,613 - - 3,412,722 4,708,581
Total 135,344 200,308 350,000 758,350 4,617,173 6,477,752
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25  Segmental analysis

Reportable segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker, in order to allocate resources to the segment and to
assess its performance

The Group operates in the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon, and its results arise largely from
commercial banking, treasury and investment activities. Information with respect to business
segments is as follows:

2019 2018
Commercial Treasury & Commercial Treasury &
banking investments Total banking investments Total

AED000 AED000 AED’000 AED'000  AED’000  AED’000

Net interest and

other income 262,037 42,800 304,837 446,854 61,676 508,530
Net impairment

loss (634,762) 677  (634,085)  (1,673,796) (21,086) (1,694,882)
{Loss)/profit for

the year (618,079) 38,717  (579,362)  (1,495,291) 23,146 (1,472,145)
Segment capital

expenditure 5,151 - 5,151 10,935 - 10,935
Segment

depreciation 24,077 21 24,098 22,399 3,010 25,409
At 31 December

Segment total

assets 9,424,785 2,279,732 11,704,517 11277476 2,748,592 14,026,068
Segment total

liabilities 10,418,474 56 10,418,530 13,090,721 188,162 13,278,883

Commercial banking includes corporate and retail portfolio.

26 Fair value of assets and liabilities

(a} Fair value hierarchy of assets/liabilities measured at fair value

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other assets/liabilities, the Group determines
fair values using other valuation techniques. For financial instruments that trade infrequently
and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of
judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing
assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active;
or other valuation techniques in which ail significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable
from market data.
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26  Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued)
{(a) Fair vatue hierarchy of assets/liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that
are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Valuation {echniques inciude net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison
with similar instruments for which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and inputs
used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and
other premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency
exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following table analyses assets at fair value at the reporting date, by the level in the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. The amounts are based
on the values recognised in the statement of financial position.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
At 31 December 2019
Financial assets
FVTPL - equity securities 2,401 - 6,801 9,202
FVTOCI - equity securities 134,565 - 467 135,032
Non-financial assets
Repossessed properties - - 517,984 517,984
136,966 - 525,252 662,218
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'G00
At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
FVTPL - equity securities 1,632 - 6,431 8,063
FVTOCI - equity securities 132,788 - 467 133,255
Non-financial assets
Repossessed properties - - 587,191 587,191
134,420 - 594,089 728,509
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26 Fair value of assets and liabilities (continue)

(a) Fair value hierarchy of assets/liabilities measured at fair value (continue)
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Investment Investment Investment Investment
Securities properties Securities properties
AED’000 AED’000
At 1 January 6,431 587,191 6,458 523,787
Fair value changes:
- in profit or loss 370 (68,466) 258 (109,985)
- inOCI - - - -
Additions - - 3,674 173,389
Disposals - (741) (3,959 -
At 31 December 6,301 517,984 6,431 587,191

Although the Bank believes that it's estimates at fair value are appropriate, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions could lead to different measurements of fair value. For fair value
measurement in level-3, changing the assumptions by 5% (+/-), would not have any significant
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of investment securities

The Bank constantly monitors the progress of its investments by conducting its own valuation
assessment. Depending on the nature of the underlying asset, quantitative methods are used
such as residual value, DCF/scenaric analysis or comparable market valuation. The
unobservable inputs are selected based on various industry and macroeconomic factors that
management considers as reasonable. Qualitative methods which involve taking into
consideration the market and economic outlook are also employed.

Valuation of repossessed properties
The fair value of repossessed properties were determined by external, independent property
valuers, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the

location and category of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair
value of the Group’s repossessed properties portfolio annually.
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26 Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Fair value hierarchy of assets/liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

Valuation techrique and significant unobservable inputs

The Group has adopted the most appropriate fair value measurement of its repossessed
properties.

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of

repossessed properties, as well as the significant unobservable inputs to the valuation.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Comparative sales
method:

The sale or transaction prices of
similar sites or comparable

properties in the vicinity within an

appropriate historical timeframe.

Interrelationship between
key unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements

A decrease in sale or
transaction prices of similar
sites or comparable properties
will decrease the fair value,

Capitalization method:

The net operating income of the
property.

The capitalization rate applicable
to the property.

A decrease in net operating
income will decrease the fair
value.

An increase in the
capitalization rate will
decrease the fair value.

Depreciated cost
method:

The original cost of construction
of the property.

The useful life of the property.

() Financial instruments not measured at fair value

A decrease in the original cost
of construction will decrease
the fair value.

A decrease in the useful life of
the property will decrease the
fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value are not materially different
from the respective carrying value.
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27  Risk management
(a) Introduction and overview

The Group has exposure to several risk categories and it has frameworks to cover all material
risks across the Bank, in addition to the following primary risks:

. Credit risk

. Liquidity risk

. Market risk

. Operational risk

The other distinct risks assessed by the Bank are concentration, business / strategic, regulatory,
compliance, reputation and legal risks. Furthermore, information security risk is a critical risk
in the current business environment and the Bank has put in place a robust infrastructure to
manage the risk.

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above primary risks,
the Group's objectives, risk management frameworks, policies and processes for measuring and
managing risks, and the Group's capital management plan.

Governance and Risk Management Framework {RMF)

The Board of Directors (the "Board" or "BOD") has the ultimate responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group's Risk Management Framework. For that purpose the
Board has formulated, in line with international best practices, the following committees at
Board level to help manage various risks the Bank faces:

(a) Board Audit & Compliance Committee;

(b) Board Risk Committee;

(c) Board Executive Credit Committee; and

(d Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee,

The Board Risk Committee has been entrusted with the mandate of risk management and the
Board Executive Credit Committee has been entrusted with the approval of the credit and
investment decisions as per delegation from the Board of Directors.

The various Board Committees are assisted by the following Senior Management Committees;
Asset Liability Committee (ALCO); Management Committee; Management Credit
Committee, Management Remedial Committee; IT Committee; and an Information Security
Committee,

Bank has implemented the Basel III Frameworks, IFRS 9 and has established other specific
committees / working groups with assigned responsibilities to members of the senior
management.

Regular audit of business units and credit processes are undettaken by internal audit.
Furthermore, Control and Compliance functions have also been enhanced.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(a) Introduction and overview {continued)

Under the purview of the Risk Management Department, the Group has made steady progress
in its initiatives to embrace an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework to enable the
business and functional units to manage all risks in a pro-active manner while integrating
concepts of strategic planning, operational risk management, internal controls, and compliance.
These include methods and processes, encompassing all risk dimensions to seize the
opportunities refated to the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Credit Risk Management Department (CRMD) has formulated Credit Risk policies aligned
with Group's strategies, goals vis-a-vis risk appetite, including collateral management policies,
credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, risk rating in compliance with regulatory
requirements.

The Bank has a Board Approved risk appetite statement (the “RAS™) with threshold limits and
benchmarks clearly defined and monitored with monthly update to Management and the Board.

Review of risk management policies and systems is a continuous activity to reflect changes in
market conditions, products and services offered by the Group in order to present a
comprehensive view of risk from a strategic and operational perspective and have a process to
address risk proactively,

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's
loans and advances to customers, contingent liabilities, balances due from banks, Deposits and
reserve with the Central Bank exciuding cash on hand, other assets and debt securities.

It is also the risk of loss, or of adverse change in the financial situation, resulting from
fluctuations in the credit standing of issuers of securities, counterparties and any debtors to
whom the Group is exposed - in the form of counterparty default risk, or (credit) spread risk,
or market risk concentrations.

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibilities of the management of credit risk to
its Board Executive Credit Committee (BECC), Management Credit Committee (MCC) and
Management Remedial Committee (MRC). Changes to discretionary limits are subject to the
Board's approval. Similarly, facilities in excess of discretionary limits are approved by the
BECC or the Board of Directors.

A separate and centralized credit risk management division ("CRMD") is responsible for
oversight of the Group's credit risk, which comprises of various independent functions,
including but not limited to credit assessment and evaluation, monitoring, control,
administration and documentation. In addition, the Bank has established Ceniral Credit
Operations (CCO) unit to centralize credit operations encompassing, amongst others, activities
like validation, settlement and utilisation of limits.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk (continued)
The broad functions of CRMD include:

- Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering credit
assessment, collateral requirements, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal
procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements;

- Reviewing and assessing credit risk in accordance with delegation & authority
structure, limits and discretionary powers prior to facilities being committed to
customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process;

- Limiting concentrations of credit exposure to counterparties and industries in line with
the RAS by establishing exposure caps and monitoring sectoral exposures, Preferred
sectors are identified and reviewed regularly in line with market dynamics;

- Reviewing compliance on an ongoing basis with approved exposure limits relating to
counterparties, group caps including Board exposure caps, industries and countries.
Regular reports are provided to the management, MCC, BECC and the Board of
Directors on the quality of portfolios, breaches, if any and appropriate corrective action
is initiated when necessary; and

- Providing advice, guidance and specialised training to business units to promote best
practices throughout the Group in the management of credit risk.

For financial institutions, the Group uses external ratings issued by Standard and Poor’s,
Moody's, Fitch, Capital Intelligence or other recognised credit rating agencies in order to
manage its credit risk exposure.

The Group has adopted the ‘Standardised Approach’ for credit risk and market risk and ‘Basic
Indicator Approach’ for Operational Risk, in line with Central Bank regulations. Models for
Internal Risk Rating, categorizing the exposures according to the degree of risk of default have
been developed and are in use since 2012. The current risk grading framework consists of eight
grades reflecting varying degrees of risk of default and mitigation through collateral or other
credit risk mitigants. In addition, the Group has proactively developed frameworks for IRB
(Internal Rating Based) approach in anticipation of Central Bank guidelines. In preparation for
the implementation of the IRB approaches and building a strong database, the Group
introduced online processing of credit applications and rating of all counterparties.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
) Credit risk measurement

Loans and advances (including loan commitments, LCs and LGs)

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the
use of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows
and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further
estimations as to the likelihood of defaults oceurring, of the associated loss ratios and of defaunlt
correlations between counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using Probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Defauit (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is the approach
used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9,

Credit risk grading

The Group uses internal credit risk grading's that reflect its assessment of the probability of
default of individual counterparties. The rating models are tailored to various asset classes.
Baorrower and loan specific information collected at the time of application (such as disposable
income, and level of collateral for retail exposures; and turnover and industry type for
wholesale exposures) is fed into this rating model. This is supplemented with external data
input into the model.

The credit grades are calibrated such that risk of default increases exponentially at each higher
risk grade. For example, this means that the difference in the PD between an A and A- rating
grade is lower than the difference in the PD between a B and B- rating grade.

The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio held by the Group:
Retail:

After the initial recognition of credit grade, for retail business, the payment behavior of the
borrower is monitored to establish the grade of the customer based on the stage of
delinquency/account conduct.

Corporate:

For corporate business, the rating is determined at the borrower level. A relationship manager
will incorporate any updated or new information/credit assessments into the credit system on
an ongoing basis. In addition, the relationship manager will also update information about the
creditworthiness of the borrower every year from sources such as financial statements, This
will determine the updated internal credit rating and PD. Duly  authorized overrides are
applied on the ratings when the actual performance of the borrower does not align with the
model output.

Treasury:

For investments in debt instruments, external rating agency credit grades are used. These
published grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PD’s associated with each grade
are determined based on realised default rates over the prior 12 months, as published by the
rating agency.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Expected credit ioss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ mode! for impairment based on changes in credit quality since
initial recognition as summarized below:

- A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in
‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group.

- If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR”) since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2* but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired.

- If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to
‘Stage 3°.

- Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the
next 12 months, Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on
expected credit losses from all possible default events over the lifetime.

- A pervasive concept in measuring the ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 s that it should
consider forward-looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

The Group considers a financial asset to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk
when one or more of the following quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have been met:

Quantitative criteria

Corporate Loans:
For corporate loans, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default
which can be triggered by the following quantitative factors:

- A credit risk rating (CRR) downgrade of 2 or more notches is considered significant in
case the origination rating is below BBB+, hence the related facility shall be classified at
Stage 2. Facilities with rating movement between AAA+ and A- are not subject to this
criteria on account of low credit risk.

- Ifthe origination rating is B+ (6+) and below (inclusive), a CRR downgrade of 1 or more
notches is considered significant, hence the related facility shall be classified at Stage 2
since the movement of related PD is higher.

- Loan facilities restructured in the last 12 months;

- Loan facilities that are past due for 30 days and above but less than 90 days;

- Any facility of a performing customer being Stage 3.

Retail:

For Retail portfolio, if the borrowers meet one or more of the following criteria;
- Loan rescheduling before 30 days past due;
= Accounts overdue between 30 and 90 days.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(b)  Credit Risk (continued)

(ii) Expected credit loss measurement {continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

Treasury:

- Significant increase in probability of default of the underlying treasury instrument;

- Significant change in the financial instruments' expected performance and behavior of
borrower.

Qualitative criteria:

Corporate Loans:
For corporate loans, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default,
which can be triggered by the following qualitative factors:

- Net worth erosion

- Fraudulent activity

- Distressed restracture

- Financial covenants breach

- Significant operations disruption
- Bad news in public domain

- Significant reputation damage

- Subject to material litigation

Backstop:

A backstop is applied and the financial asset considered to have experienced a significant
increase in credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

(iii) Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Group defines a financial instrument as in'default, which is fully aligned with the definition
of credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria:
The obligor is more than 90 days past due on its contractual obligation to the Group.

Qualitative criteria:

The Group considers a default to have occurred with regard to particular obligors when either
one of the following events have taken place:

- The Group considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligation to the Group
in full without recourse by the Group to actions like realizing security (if held).

- The Group puts the credit obligation on a non-accrual status.

- The Group makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived
decline in credit quality subsequent to the Bank taking on the exposure.

- The Group sells the credit obligation at a material credit-related economic loss.
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27 Risk management (continued)

{b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii})  Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (continued)

- The Group consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is
likely to result in a diminished financial obligation caused by the material forgiveness
or postponement of principal, interest and other fees.

- The Group has filed for the obligor’s bankruptcy or similar order in respect of the
obligor’s credit obligation to the Group.

The criteria above have been applied to ail financial instruments held by the Group and
are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. The defauit definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability
of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD)
throughout the Group’s expected loss calculations.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer
meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of twelve months.

Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or lifetime basis depending on whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the
Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Defauit (LGD),
defined as foliows:

- PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per
‘Definition of default and credit-impaired’ above), either over the next 12 months
(12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.

- EAD is based on the amounts the Group is expecting to be owed at the time of default,
over the next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD).
For example, for a revolving commitment, the Group includes the current drawn
balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current
contractual limit by the time of default, should it oceur.

- Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim
and availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage
loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD).

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each quarterly period and for
each individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which
is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.
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() Credit risk (continuned)
Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The
maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial
recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical
observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit grade
band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which
varies by product type:

- For amortising products and bullet repayments loans, this is based on the contractual
repayments owed by the borrower over a 12 month or lifetime basis. This will also be
adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.

- For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn
balance and adding a “credit conversion factor” which allows for the expected
drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These assumptions vary by
product type and current limit utilisation, based on analysis of the Group’s recent
default data.

The LGDs are based on the average expectation of recoveries as recommended by regulators
adjusted for the availability of collateral. Bank is in the process of estimating LGD based on
its own recovery experience however till such time will continue to apply LGD as per above
approach,

Forward-locking economic information is also included in determining the 12M and lifetime
PD, EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by product type. Refer below for an explanation
of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation — such as how the maturity profile of the PDs
and how collateral values change etc. — are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL Models
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking

information. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk are oil prices and UAE equity prices.
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{(b) Credit risk (continued)
Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Credit rating and measurement

The risk rating system is the basis for determining the credit risk of the Group’s asset portfolio
(except the retail portfolio) and thus asset pricing, portfolio management, determining finance
loss provisions and reserves. A grading system is being used by the Group which is based on
the Group’s internal estimate of probability of default, with customers or portfolios assessed
against a range of quantitative and qualitative factors, including taking into account the
counterparty’s financial position, past experience and other factors.

Credit approval

Major credit exposures to individual counterparties, groups of connected counterparties and
portfolios of retail exposures are reviewed and approved by the Group’s Management Credit
Committee (“MCC”) / Board Executive Credit Committee ("BECC") within the authorities
delegated by the Board of Directors.

Credit monitoring

The Group regularly monitors credit exposures and external trends which may impact risk
management outcomes. Internal risk management reports are presented to the Chief Risk
Officer and Board Risk Committee (BRC), containing information on key variables including
RAS; portfolio delinquency and financing impairment performance.

All corporate accounts are monitored carefully for performance and reviewed formally on an
annual basis or earlier to assess any deterioration in account conduct. The Group has robust
policies for client visits and monitoring of accounts to make sure that any concerns on the
quality of the accounts are addressed well in time. An exposure is categorised as watch list or
non-performing as per UAE Central Bank guidelines. An early warning process is in place for
regular review of accounts.

All non-performing accounts are monitored closely by the Remedial Management Unit (RDL)
of the Group directly reporting to the Chief Risk Officer (CRO). Such accounts are re-evaluated
and remedial actions are agreed and monitored on a periodic basis and discussed in the MRC
every month, Remedial actions include, but are not limited to, exposure reduction, security
enhancement, asset search, employing litigation/recovery agencies, defining litigation strategy
and exit of the account.

With respect to the Group’s retail portfolio, asset quality is monitored closely with 30/60/90
days past due accounts and delinquency trends monitored continuously for each Retail Product
of the Group. Accounts which are past due are subject to collection processes that are managed
independently.
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Credit mitigation

Potential credit losses from any given account, customer or portfolio are mitigated using a
range of tools. Additional support in the form of collateral and guarantee is obtained where
required. The reliance that can be placed on these credit mitigation resources is carefully
assessed in light of issues such as legal enforceability, market value and counterparty risk of
the guarantor. Collateral types which are eligible for risk mitigation include: cash; residential,
commercial and industrial property; fixed assets such as motor vehicles, plant and machinery;
marketable securities and bank guarantees etc. Risk mitigation policies control the approval of
collateral types.

Collateral is valued in accordance with the Group’s risk mitigation policy, which prescribes
the frequency of valuation for different collateral types to arrive at their fair values and the
respective bank valuations. The valuation frequency is driven by the level of price volatility of
each type of collateral and the nature of the underlying product or risk exposure.

Credit risk exposure - Financial instrument subject to impairment

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets which
are subject to ECL. The gross carrying amount of financial assets on the next page also
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets:
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tb) Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposure - Financial instrument subject to impairment (continued)

2019 2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
AED'000 AED'000  AED'000  AED'000 AED'000

Credit risk exposures
relating to on-balance
sheet assets are as

follows:
Cash and balances with
central banks 1,503,806 - - 1,503,806 1,968,369
Expected credit loss/
impairment loss - - - - -
Carrying amount 1,503,806 - - 1,503,806 1,968,369
Due from banks
Investment-grade 659,784 - - 659,784 694,749
BB+ & below 92,335 - - 92,335 38,875
752,119 752,119 733,624
Expected credit loss/
impairment loss (221) - - {221) (164)
Carrying amount 751,898 - - 751,898 733,460
Customer exposures
Central Bank
classification
Standard 3,205,762 2,863,217 - 6,068,979 8,051,007
Watch list - 628,275 - 628,275 657,048
Substandard - - 951,864 951,864 1,387,847
Doubtful - - 1,143,936 1,143,936 2,211,825
Loss - - 4,256,910 4,256,910 1,510,406
3,205,762 3,491,492 6,352,710 13,049,964 13,818,133
Expected credit loss/
impairment loss (36,208)  (123.,462) (4,577,030) (4,736,700) (3,742,759)
Carrying amount 3,169,554 3,368,030 1,775.680  8,313.264 10,075,374

Investments in Debis securities and Sukuk

Investment-grade 117,490 - - 117,490 14,646
Loss allowance 21) - - (21) (17
Carrying amount 117,469 - - 117,469 14,629
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Loss allowance

The following table explains the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the
end of the annual period due to these factors:

2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Due from banks
Loss allowance as at 1 January 164 - - 164
New financial assets originated 57 - - 57
Loss allowance as at
31 December 2019 221 - - 221
Loss allowance as at
31 December 2018 164 - - 164
Customer exposures
Loss allowance as at 1 January 44,646 256,597 3,441,516 3,742,759
Transfers
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (9,525) 9,525 - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (273) - 273 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,747 (2,747) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - 97,370 97,377 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 867 (367) -
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADSs (1,387) (43,403) 1,038,731 993,941
Loss allowance as at
31 December 2019 36,208 123,462 4,577,030 4,736,700
Loss allowance as at
31 December 2018 44,646 256,597 3,441,516 3,742,759

Investments in debts and
sukuk — at amortized cost

Loss allowance as at 1 January 17 - - 17
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs 4 - - 4
Loss allowance as at

31 December 2019 21 - - 21
Loss allowance as at

31 December 2018 17 - - 17
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Gross exposure

The following table explains the changes in the gross exposure between the beginning and the

end of the annual period:

2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Due from banks
Gross exposure as at 1 Janvary 733,624 - - 733,624
New financial assets originated 18,495 - - 18,495
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2019 752,119 - - 752,119
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2018 733,624 - - 733,624
Customer exposures
Gross exposure as at 1 Janvary 5,462,186 3,245,869 5,110,078 13,818,133
Transfers
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1,703,260) 1,703,260 - -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 {39,029) - 39,029 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 252,279 (252,279) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (581,992) 581,992 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 1,927 (1,927) -
Changes in exposure (766,414) {625,293) 623,538 (768,169)
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2019 3,205,762 3,491,492 6,352,710 13,049,964
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2018 5,462,186 3,245,869 5,110,078 13,818,133
Investments in debts and
sukuk — at amortized cost
Gross exposure as at 1 January 14,646 - - 14,646
Changes in exposure 102,844 - - 102,844
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2019 117,490 - - 117,490
Gross exposure as at
31 December 2018 14,646 - - 14,646
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets exposed to credit risk are as follows:

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000

Deposits and reserves with central banks (excluding cash
in hand) 1,464,204 1,893,709
Due from banks 752,119 733,460
Debt securities 117,490 14,646
Customer acceptance 190,249 350,945
Contingent liabilities 307,221 517,266
Other financial assets 97,257 46,122
2,928,540 3,556,148

The table below sets out the credit quality of debt securities which is based on the rating of the
respective debt security. The analysis has been based on 'Standard & Poor's ratings (or its
equivalent) where applicable on gross values.

Government bonds Corporate bonds Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’G00 AED’000
Rated A- and above - - 7,300 7,300 7,300 7,300
Rated BBB+to BB 110,190 - - - 110,190 -
Unrated - - - 7.346 - 7,346
110,190 - 7,300 14,646 117,490 14,646

Impaired loans and advances

Impaired loans and advances are financial assets for which the Group determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the
contractual terms of the loan agreement(s). These loans are classified as substandard, doubtful
or loss, as appropriate, which is in accordance with the guidelines issued by the CB UAE.

Past due but not impaired loans

These are loans and advances where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but
the Group believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of a repayment source such
as assigned receivables, the level of security/collateral available and/or the possible scope of
collection of amounts owed to the Group.

(64)



Invest bank P.S.C.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

27 Risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Alowances for impairment

The Group establishes allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate for losses
in its loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance are specific losses that relates to
individuaily significant exposures and a collective impairment established for groups of
homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified
on loans that are considered individually insignificant as well as individually significant that
were subject to individual assessment for impairment but not found to be individually impaired.
Assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are not subject to impairment testing as the
measure of fair value reflects the credit quality of each asset.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off loans/securities (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when
it determines that there is no scope of recovery and the loans are uncollectible. The decision is
reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the
borrower's financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that
proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure and there is no
scope to pursue any other avenues, by writing down the debt to a nominal value.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The Group holds collateral against funded and unfunded financing facilities in the form of cash
margins, pledges/liens over deposits, mortgage interests over property, other registered
securities over assets and guarantees. The Group accepts guarantees mainly from well reputed
local or international banks/financial institutions, well established local or multinational
organisations, large corporates and high net worth individuals. Estimates of fair value are based
on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing which are generally updated during
annual reviews or earlier as the Group deems it prudent given the circumstances and market
trend / conditions. Collateral is generally not held over loans and advances to other banks or
financial institutions, except when securities are held as a part of reverse repurchase and
securities borrowing activity.

1t is the Group's policy to ensure that loans are extended to customers within their capability to
service interest and repay principal instead of relying excessively on securities/collaterals.
Accordingly, depending on customers’ credit worthiness and the type of product, facilities may
be unsecured. Nevertheless, collateral is and can be an important credit risk mitigant.

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans

and advances to customers is shown below. Collateral values reflect the maximum exposure or
the value of the collateral whichever is lower.
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®

Against neither past due nor impaired

Cash

Commercial and industrial property
Residential property

Equities
Other

Against past due but not impaired

Cash

Commercial and industrial property

Equities
Other

Against impaired

Cash

Commercial and industrial property

Equities
Other

Total collateral held

Credit risk (continued)

year ended
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'0060
2,255,023 2,582,330
1,592,834 2,338,626
- 232
381,367 472,890
233,361 330,547
4,464,585 3,724,625
61,623 38,502
109,434 518,047
502 -
51,938 35,394
223,497 641,943
58,866 87,932
1,041,855 937,740
9,178 7,794
157,174 133,187
1,267,073 1,166,653
5,955,155 7,533,221
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(b Credit risk (continued)
In accordance with the disclosure requirement of BASEL II Pillar 3 and the CB UAE
guidelines, concentration of credit risk by industry segment and currency are as follows:

Loans and advances Debt securities Due from banks
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
AED’000 AED000 AED000 AED000 AED’000 AED’000
Gross credit
exposure by

industry segment
Agriculture, fishing
and related activities 103 2,287 - - - -
Mining and quarrying 3,610 4,531 - - - -
Manufacturing 2,304,585 2,408,299 - - - -
Electricity, gas and

water - 2,941 - - - -
Construction 3,734,310 3,607,669 - - - -
Real estate 2,070,027 2,168,139 - - - -
Trade 1,213,847 1,367,926 - - - -
Transport, storage and

communication 108,309 200,828 - - - -
Financial institutions 1,286,089 1,343,972 - 7,346 752,119 733,624
Other services 808,128 1,183,650 - - - -
Government 434,098 173,276 110,190 - - -
Loans to individuals 43,792 51,255 - - - -
Loans to high net

worth individuals 775,504 816,602 - - - -
Others 267,562 486,758 7,300 7,300 - -
Total 13,049,964 13,818,133 117,490 14,646 752,119 733,624
Gross credit

exposure hy

currency
Foreign currency 399,793 419,330 117,490 14,646 314,269 118,514
AED 12,650,171 13,398,803 - - 437,850 615,110
Total 13,049,964 13,818,133 117,490 14,646 752,119 733,624

Concentration by
location

United Arab Emirates 12,521,148 13,232,129 117,490 14,646 546,230 615,579
Other G.C.C. 24,060 76,580 - - 55,088 18,223

Other Arab countries 166,492 183,108 - - 35,019 15,430
Western Europe and
others 338,264 326,316 115,782 84,392

Total 13,049,964 13,818,133 117,490 _ 14,646 752,119 733,624
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

Impaired loans and advances by industry segment and geographical location as defined by the

CB UAE:
Expected
Overdues %0 credit loss/ Net Adjustments
daysand  impairment impaired
2019 above allowance assets  Write-offs  Write-backs
Concentration by industry
segment
Mining and quarrying 3,608 1,690 1,918 - -
Manufacturing 1,629,397 1,380,203 249,194 130 4,741
Electricity, gas and water - - - - -
Construction and real estate 3,134,233 2,173,160 961,073 23 15,789
Trade 630,159 521,066 109,093 10 1,703
Transport, storage and
communication 24,954 14,501 10,453 - -
Financial institutions 102,509 83,433 19,076 - -
Other services 192,135 144,591 47,544 - 94
Loans to individuals 17,021 13,387 3,634 74 1,248
Loans to high net worth
individuals 434,278 167,433 266,845 4,973 765
Others 184.416 77,566 106,851 - 140
Total 6,352,710 4,577,030 1,775,681 5,210 24,480
Concentration by geography
United Arab Emirates 6,240,329 4,518,566 1,722,264 5,210 24,480
Others 111,881 58,464 53,417 - -
Total 6,352,710 4,577,030 1,775,681 5,210 24,480
2018
Concentiration by industry
segment
Mining and quarrying 4,531 1,382 3,149 - -
Manufacturing 1,448,729 1,127,472 321,257 - 779
Electricity, gas and water 2,940 264 2,676 - -
Construction and real estate 2,153,252 1,492 930 660,322 1,086 288
Trade 557,430 452,094 105,336 206 3,822
Transport, storage and
communication 14,675 8,921 5,754 - -
Financial institutions 101,487 81,864 19,623 - -
Other services 138,507 61,745 76,762 1,105 74
Loans to individuals 13,785 12,996 789 70 473
Loans to high net worth
individuals 422,437 138,894 283,543 75 -
Others 252,305 62,954 189,351 - 108
Total 5,110,078 3,441,516 1,668,562 2,542 5,544
Concentration by geography
United Arab Emirates 5,058,976 3,415,674 1,643,302 2,542 5,544
Others 51,102 25,842 25,260 - -
Total 5,110,078 3,441,516 1,668,562 2,542 5,544
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

Analysis of the Group's exposure based on BASEL II standardized approach:
All figures in AED '000

Risk
On balance Off balance weighted
31 December 2019 sheet sheet Credit risk mitigation (CRM) assets
Exposure
Gross Gross before After
Asset classes outstanding outstanding CRM CRM CRM
Claims on
sovereign 2,008,940 - 2,008,940 - 2,008,940 109,873
Claims on banks 752,119 446,603 1,198,722 - 806,180 233,955
Claims on
corporates and
GREs 4,244,465 2,409,974 6,641,847 1,757,937 5,619,742 3,858,999
Claims included in
retail portfolio* 1,145,163 1,689,178 2,819,537 581,049 2,058,075 1,480,580
Claims secured by
commercial real
estate 364,670 56,481 421,151 24,231 375,966 351,735
Past due loans 6,713,232 690,530 2,918,225 100,922 2,630,240 3,106,481
High risk categories 733,435 - 517,984 - 517,984 776,976
Other assets 541,498 - 519,025 - 519,025 479,655
Total 16,503,521 5,292,767 17,045,431 2,464,139 14,536,152 10,398,254
31 December 2018
Asset classes
Claims on
sovereign 2,068,031 - 2,068,031 - 2,068,031 101,769
Claims on banks 740,970 911,783 1,652,753 - 1,652,753 259,754
Claims on
corporates and
GREs 5,328,793 3,018,972 8,344,930 1910,238 6,434,692 5,136,950
Claims included in
retail portfolio* 1,992,579 2,961,563 4,946,112 879,182 4,066,930 2,825,138
Claims secured by
commercial real
estate 304,376 97,211 401,587 27,094 374,493 296,724
Past due loans 5,955,277 797,827 3,358,946 150,330 3,208,616 3,368,612
High risk categories 734,176 - 599,231 - 599,231 808,847
Other assets 441,805 - 439,348 - 439,348 364,758
Total 17,567,007 7,787,356 21,810,938 2,966,844 18,844,094 13,252,552

Includes claims on SME portfolio (customers with annual turnover up to AED 250 million)
amounting to AED 1,124 million (2018: AED 1,965 million) for on balance sheet and AED

1,689 million (2018: AED 2,962 million) for off balance sheet.
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(b) Credit risk (continued)

Analysis of the Group's exposure based on BASEL II Standardized Approach externally rated
and unrated:

2019 All figures in AED '000
Gross Credit Exposures
Exposure
Rated Unrated before CRM
Asset classes
Claims on sovereign* - 2,008,940 2,008,940
Claims on banks 1,068,419 130,303 1,198,722
Claims on corporates and GREs 7,300 6,647,139 6,041,847
Claims included in retail portfolio - 2,834,341 2,819,537
Claims secured by commercial real estate - 421,151 421,151
Past due loans - 7,403,762 2,918,225
High risk categories - 733,435 517,984
Other assets - 541,498 519,025
Total 1,075,719 20,720,569 17,045,431
2018
Gross Credit Exposures

Exposure
Asset classes Rated Unrated before CRM
Claims on sovereign* - 2,068,031 2,068,031
Claims on banks 1,384,010 268,744 1,652,753
Claims on corporates and GREs 7,300 8,341,465 8,344,930
Claims included in retail portfolio - 4,954,142 4,946,112
Claims secured by commerciai real estate - 401,587 401,587
Past due loans - 6,753,104 3,358,946
High risk categories - 734,176 599,231
Other assets - 441,805 439,348
Total 1,391,310 23,963,054 21,810,938

*Rated exposure includes exposure where risk weighted assets are calculated using external
rating.
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with it's financial liabilities as they become due and at a reasonable cost. Liquidity
risk can be segregated into three categories:-

i) Mismatch or structural liquidity risk: the risk in the Group's current consolidated
statement of financial position structure due to maturity transformation in the cash
flows of individual positions;

(i) Contingency liquidity risk: the risk that future events may require a significantly larger
amount of cash than what the Group's projections allow. This can arise due to unusual
deviations of timing of cash flows (term liquidity risk), e.g., non-contractual
prolongation of loans, or unexpected draw downs on committed loan facilities (call/
withdrawal liquidity risk); and

(iii)  Market liquidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot easily offset or eliminate a position
at the market price because of market disruption or inadequate market depth,

Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management has remained at the helm of risk management and receives close
attention of the Board of Directors. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure,
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's
reputation. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by Board
& ALCO. The group is strengthening its Liquidity and Market Risk framework including
monitoring of Financial Institutions Limits. The key elements of the Group's liquidity strategy
are as follows:

) Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retail and
corporate), wholesale market deposits, maintaining contingency facilities, annual
budgeting and planning exercise forms the basis for developing the Bank's funding
strategy.

(i) Carrying a portfolio of high quality liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity.

(iliy ~ Monitoring liquidity ratios (ELAR, ASRR, LTD}, maturity mismatches, behavioral
characteristics of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, and the extent to which
the Group's assets are encumbered and hence not available as potential collatera] for
obtaining funding.

(iv)  Carrying out stress testing of the Group's liquidity position.

V) Maintaining adequate liquidity buffers.
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{c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Exposure to liquidity risk

The key measure used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets
(i.e. total assets by maturity against total liabilities by maturity) and its loans to deposit ratio.
The maturity profile is monitored by the management to ensure adequate liquidity is

maintained.

Maturities of assets and liabilities

Less than 3 months 1 year
3 months to 1 year and above Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

At 31 December 2019
Assets
Cash and deposits with central

banks 1,494,624 - 9,182 1,503,806
Due from banks 751,898 - - 751,898
Investment securities 144,213 - 117,490 261,703
Loans and advances to

customers 590,496 3,097,772 4,624,996 8,313,264
Customers' indebtedness for

acceptances 128,828 60,729 692 190,249
Other assets 40,587 70,454 572,556 683,597
Total assets 3,150,646 3,228,955 5,324,916 11,704,517
Liabilities and equity
Due to banks 164 - - 164
Deposits from customers 4,799,677 5,046,289 60,151 9,906,117
Liabilities under acceptances 128,828 60,729 692 190,249
Other liabilities 204,903 79,028 38,069 322,000
Total liabilities 5,133,572 5,186,046 98,912 10,418,530
Net liquidity positions (1,982,926) (1,957,091) 5,226,004 1,285,987

Deposits from customers in “Less than 3 months” bucket include AED 2,054 million of current
and savings account deposits (2018: AED 3,585 million). Further, the majority of deposits due
for maturity have been renewed on maturity.
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() Liguidity risk (continued)

Maturities of assets and liabilities (continued)

Less than 3 months 1 year
3 months to 1 year and above Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'G00
At 31 December 2018
Assets
Cash and deposits with central
banks 1,959,187 - 9,182 1,968,369
Due from banks 733,460 - - 733,460
Investment securities 141,301 7,346 7,300 155,947
Loans and advances to
customers 1,473,408 4,361,251 4,240,715 10,075,374
Customers' indebtedness for
acceptances 191,617 122,757 36,571 350,945
Other assets 33,040 24,100 684,833 741,973
Total assets 4,532,013 4,515,454 4,978,601 14,026,068
Liabilities and equity
Due to banks 199 - - 199
Deposits from customers 6,150,464 6,483,280 1,740 12,635,484
Liabilities under acceptances 191,617 122,757 36,571 350,945
Other liabilities 137,686 113,676 40,393 202,255
Total liabilities 6,479,966 6,719,713 75,204 13,278,883
Net liquidity positions (1,947,953) (2,204,259) 4,899,397 747,185

Residual contractnal maturity of financial liabilities

The following table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Group's financial liabilities on
the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. The Group's expected cash flow on
these instruments may vary significantly from this analysis, for example demand deposits from
customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance and unrecognized loan
commitments are not expected to be drawn down immediately.
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(c) Liguidity risk (continued)
Residual contractual maturity of financial liabilities (continued)
Carrying Undiscounted Lessthan3 3 months 1to5
2019 amount cash flows months to 1 year year
AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Non-derivative
financial liabilities

Due to banks 164 (164) (164) - -
Peposits from

customers 9,906,117  (10,187,400) (4,856,628) (5,270,141) (60,631)
Liabilities for

acceptances 190,249 (190,249)  (128,828) (60,729) (691)
Other liabilities 322,000 (322,000) (204,903)  (79,028) (38,069
Total liabilities 10,418,530  (10,699,813) (5,190,523) (5,409,898) (99,391)
2018
Non-derivative

financial liabilities
Due to banks 199 (199 (199) - -
Deposits from

customers 12,635,484  (12,959,439) (6,170,965) (6,751,647) (36,827)
Liabilities for

acceptances 350,945 (350,945  (191,617) (122,757) (36,572)
Other liabilities 292,255 (292,255 (137,686) (113,676) (40,893)
Total liabilities 13,278,883 (13,602,838) (6,500,467) (6,988,080) (114,292)

(d) Mavrket Risk

Market Risk is the risk that changes in market prices - such as interest rates, equity prices and
foreign exchange rates will affect the Group's profit or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters to ensure the Group's solvency while optimizing the
return on risk.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure to market risks between trading and non-trading portfolios.
Trading portfolios mainly include positions arising from market making and proprietary
position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value
basis.

The Group has a very limited trading portfolio, hence it is not exposed to any significant market
risk in respect of its trading portfolio.
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@ Market risk (continued)

Exposure fo interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of changes
in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest
rate gaps. A summary of the Group's interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as
follows:

Assets and liabilities repricing profile

Effective Non-
interest Lessthan 3 months more than interest
rate % 3 months tol year 1year  sensitive Total
AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED000  AED’000
Assets
Cash and deposits with
central banks 2.08 850,000 - - 653,806 1,503,806
Due from banks 0.94 453,418 - - 298,480 751,898
Investment securities 3.55 - - 117,490 144,213 261,703
Loans and advances to :
customers 6.01 4,930,380 3,203,645 65,232 114,007 8,313,264
Customers' indebtedness
for acceptances - - - 190,249 190,249
Other assets - - - 683,597 683,597
Total assets 6,233,798 3,203,645 182,722 2,084,352 11,704,517
Liabilities
Due to banks - - - 164 164

Deposits from customers
2.79 2,709,367 4,872,418 247,885 2,076,447 9,906,117
Liabilities under
acceptances - - - 190,249 190,249
Other liabilities
- - - 322,000 322,000
Total liabilities 2,709,367 4,872,418 247,885 2,588,860 10,418,530
As of 31 December 2019
Interest rate sensitivity
gap 3,524,431 (1,668,773)  (65,163) (504,508) 1,285,987
Cumulative interest
rate sensitivify gap: 3,524,431 1,855,658 1,790,495

As of 31 December 2018
Total assets 8,840,363 2,624,428 115,131 2,446,146 14,026,068
Total liabilities 2,610,433 6,246,351 199,482 4,222,617 13,278,883

Interest rate sensitivity
gap 6,229,930 (3,621,923)  (84,351) (1,776,471) 747,185

Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap: 6,229,930 2,608,007 2,523,656
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27 Risk management (continued)

(d Market risk (continued)

The assets and liabilities re-pricing profile has been determined on the basis of the final
maturity period or interest re-pricing periods at the reporting date, whichever is earlier, The
matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities
is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely
matched, as transacted business is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched
position potentially enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses. The maturities
of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its
exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Sensitivity analysis - Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of asset and liability values to changes in the term structure
of interest rates or interest rate volatility. Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial
instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the
value of the financial instruments and related income. The Group manages the risk principally
through monitoring interest rate gaps and matching the re-pricing profile of assets and
liabilities. The Group also assesses the impact of defined movement in interest yield curves on
its net interest income. The following is the impact of interest rate movement on net interest
income and regulatory capital.

Sensitivity analysis - Interest rate risk

Shift in yield curve 2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
+200 b.p. 42,053 67,613

The intetest rate sensitivities set out above are illustrative only and employ simplified
scenarios. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by the management
to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements,

Equity price risk

The primary goal of the Group's investment strategy is to maximise investment returns. Most
of the Group's equity investments are listed either on the Dubai Financial Market or the Abu
Dhabi Securities Exchange. For investments classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income, a 5% increase at the reporting date would have increased equity by
AED 6.75 million (31 December 2018: AED 6.66 million) and an equal change in the opposite
direction would have decreased equity by a similar amount, For investments classified as fair
value through profit or loss, the impact on the loss would have been an increase or decrease of
AED 0.5 million (31 December 2018: AED 0.4 million).
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@ Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group engages in limited trading in foreign exchange on its own account. Its treasury
activities are mainly directed to assisting its customers in managing their foreign exchange
exposures. A system of exposure limits is in place to control price risk on foreign exchange
exposures and a system of individual credit limits is in place to control counter-party risk. The
amounts mentioned in the table below reflect the equal but opposite potential effect on profit
and equity based on a 1% negative or positive currency fluctuation, with all other variables

‘held constant. At the reporting date, the Group has following net open currency exposures in

respect of:
2019 2018
Impact on Impact Impact Impact
Total profit on equity Total on profit on equity

AED000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

United States

Dollar 525,156 5,252 5,252 270,187 2,702 2,702
British Pound 479 (3) 3) 1,205 i2 12
Euro {1,482) (15) (15) (760) (8) (8)

The UAE Dirham is pegged to the United States Dollar.

(e) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes
associated with the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from
external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal
and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behavior.

Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations and are faced by all business entities.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In
all cases, Group policy requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

The Group has taken measures to put tools in place, to identify all such operational risks. The
Group has also taken measures to implement processes and policies to mitigate the risk to an
acceptable level and to avoid or minimise financial losses and damage to Group's reputation.

Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken
by Internal Audit. The resuits of Internal Audit reviews are shared with Audit Commitiee and
senior management of the Group, The compliance with policies and procedures is strengthened
by Internal Audit reviews, while Compliance of regulatory requirements is strengthened by
Compliance department.
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@ Capital risk management and Basel Il requirements
Capital allocation

The Group's lead regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital
requirements.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are as follows:

- Safeguarding the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and increase return
for the shareholders; and
- Comply with regulatory capital requirement set by Central Bank of the UAE.

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level
of capital on sharcholders’ return is also recognised and the Group recognises the need to
maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Group also assesses its capital requirements internally taking into consideration growth
requirements and business plans along with an assessment of all material risks faced by the
Bank. Risks such as interest rate risk in the banking book, concentration risk, strategic risk,
legal and compliance risk, stress risk, insurance risk and reputational risk form part of the
ICAAP computations.

The Group has determined its regulatory capital as recommended by the Basel 1I Capital
Accord, in line with the guidelines of CB UAE with effect from 2007. The CB UAE has advised
that the minimum capital adequacy ratio should be 13% analysed into two Tiers, of which Tier
I capital adequacy must not be less than 8.5%. In addition to the above, Capital Conservation
Buffer (CCB) of 2.5% has to be maintained for 31 December 2019. Collective impairment
provision eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 1.25% of credit risk weighted
assets.

The capital adequacy ratio (CAR) as computed in accordance with the above guidelines at
12.31% is below the regulatory threshold for 31 December 2019 of 13%.
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27 Risk management (continued)

)] Capital risk management and Basel IT requirements (continued)

The Group's regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows:

TIER 1 CAPITAL

Share capital

Share discount
Legal reserve
Special reserve
Fair value reserve
Retained earnings
Total tier 1 capital

TIER 2 CAPITAL
General provisions
Total tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital

RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS
Credit risk

Market risk

Operational risk

Total risk weighted assets (RWA)

Total regulatory capital expressed as % of RWA
Total tier 1 capital expressed as % of RWA

year ended
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000
3,180,982 1,588,125
(477,857) -
450,688 450,638
450,688 450,688

(103,730) (117,015)

(2,214,784) (1,625,301)
1,285,987 747,185
129,978 165,657
129,978 165,657
1,415,965 012,842
10,398,254 13,252,552
59,822 54,740
1,040,501 1,348,694
11,498,577 14,655,986
12.31% 6.23%
11.18% 5.10%

Total capital requirement for market risk under standardized approach as per BASEL II Pillar

3 is as follows:

2019 2018
AED’000 AED’000

Capital Risk weighted Capital Risk weighted

required assets required assets

Interest rate risk - - - -

Equity position risk 2,042 25,530 2,324 29,056

Foreign exchange risk 2,743 34,292 2,055 25,684
Total capital

requirement 4,785 59,822 , 4,379 54,740
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Social contributions

Social contributions made during the year amount to AED 110,000 (2018: AED 30,000).

29

a.

Events occurring subsequent to the year end

On 9 March 2020, the Government of Lebanon defaulted on USD 1.2B worth of
foreign debt. The political and economic challenges being faced by the country
adversely affect the creditworthiness of government debt securities and deposits held
with the Central Bank of Lebanon, including the valuation of the Lebanese Pound in
the secondary market. The Group’s branch in Lebanon is not significant to the overall
Group.

On 14 March 2020, the Central Bank of the UAE announced a support package to the
banking system of AED 100B, split between direct cash support and relaxation of
capital buffers. The Central Bank’s support package is aligned with the escalated
global response to the spread of COVID-19 and with the purpose of easing the
anticipated pressure on the UAE economy and banking system. Although the Group
does not have significant direct exposure to customers or entities directly impacted by
COVID-19, the indirect implications to the Group could be significant. The Group is
in the process of assessing the extent of the indirect implications and the resources
accessible to it through the Central Bank’s support package. Adhering to policy, the
Group has activated certain risk mitigation protocols in order to alleviate and manage
risk,
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